No. 30968-1

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

No.1: Did the Chelan County Superior Court err in granting the Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of invasion of privacy? (The standard of review on this issue is "de novo." Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 Wash.2d 853, 860, 93 P.3d 108 (2004)).

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

No. 1: Did the trial court err concluding there was no evidence to support Jason Youker's "physical intrusion" invasion of privacy claim?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Court of Appeals Div III remanded the <u>Youker v.</u>

<u>Douglas County</u> case back to the trial court for a consideration

of Jason Youker's invasion of privacy claim. (No. 29165-1-III) The Defendants moved for summary judgment. CP 299-321. The trial court granted the motion for summary judgment on Jason Youker's invasion of privacy claim. CP 381-384. The Plaintiff, Jason Youker, moved for reconsideration CP 387, the trial judge denied the motion for summary judgment. CP 387 Plaintiff, Jason Youker timely appealed. CP 403-409.

The Complaint filed in this matter alleged a cause of action for "Invasion of Privacy" (Complaint, §5.3). CP 1-44.

The Complaint alleged that "Deputies White and Black intentionally entered Jason Youker's residence without a search warrant and without Jason Youker's express or implied consent, in violation of Art. 1, Section 7 of the Washington State

Constitution." (Complaint, §5.3). CP 1-44. Section 5.5 of the complaint stated that Deputies White and Black's "entry into the residence of Jason Youker without consent constituted an invasion into the sanctity of his home, which constituted an

intrusion highly offensive and objectionable to a reasonable person." (Complaint §5.5). CP 1-44.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about April 20, 2007, Jason Youker's ex-wife,

JoAnn Youker, was being held at the Douglas County Sheriff's

office on an arrest warrant. CP 116. While JoAnn Youker was
in custody, she reported that her ex-husband, Jason Youker, had
a rifle under his bed at his residence. CP 116. Jason Youker
was not allowed to be in possession of a firearm because of his
status as a convicted felon. CP 116.

Ms. Youker claimed that she knew the rifle was there because of contact she had had with Jason Youker. CP 116. At the time this report was made, Ms. Youker had a no-contact order against her, which prohibited any and all contact between her and Jason Youker or his residence. CP 116, 120. This no-contact order was part of the law enforcement database to

which the Douglas County Sheriff's department had access. CP 133, 164-165, 197. Despite access to this information, Douglas County Sheriff's deputies Lisa White and William Black transported JoAnn Youker to Jason Youker's residence and obtained consent from JoAnn Youker to search Jason Youker's residence. CP 116.

Douglas County Sheriff Deputies Lisa White and William Black entered the residence and were led by JoAnn Youker to a rifle located under the bed, along with a box of 30-30 ammunition. CP 116-117. Deputy White arrested Jason Youker on 4/21/07. CP 117.

As a result of Jason Youker's arrest, a no-contact order was entered, which prohibited Jason Youker from having contact with his son, Jetta Youker. CP 117. Douglas County officers failed to verify Ms. Youker's authority to consent to a search of Jason Youker's property prior to searching the residence. CP 117. Ms. Youker did not have mutual and joint access to the

property, and was actually excluded from that residence due to the no-contact order. CP 117. Jason Youker spent ½ day in jail. CP 117. Those criminal charges in Douglas County were dismissed on the merits on or about August 6, 2007. CP 117. The same day the charges were dismissed, the Douglas County prosecutor referred the case to the federal prosecutor. CP 117. Jason Youker spent 45 days in the Spokane County jail as a result of that referral. CP 117. Ultimately, the federal charges were also dismissed on the merits and Jason Youker was released from jail. CP 117.

Jason Youker alleged in his complaint that Deputies

White and Black's entry into the residence of Jason Youker

without consent constituted an invasion into the sanctity of his

home, which was an intrusion highly offensive and

objectionable to a reasonable person_and to him as well. CP

117.

As a direct and proximate result of this invasion of privacy, Jason Youker was wrongfully charged with a crime causing him to have lost income while he was in jail, incurred bail, loss of residential time with his son, loss of his rental property, loss of his personal belongings which were repossessed during his incarceration, emotional distress and humiliation. CP 117.

The following additional facts were established by the Declarations of Jason Youker and JoAnn Youker as follows:

(1) JoAnn Youker was not living at Jason Youker's residence at the time of the unlawful search, seizure, and arrest which are the subject of this action. CP 264-265; (2) JoAnn Youker was angry because Jason Youker, her ex-husband, had a new girlfriend. CP 262; (3) Jason Youker had a Domestic Violence Restraining Order prohibiting JoAnn from coming to

his residence. CP 265; (4) JoAnn Youker, in retaliation against her ex-husband, planted a rifle under his bed and then reported it to the Douglas County Sheriff's Department. CP 261; (5) Jason Youker was arrested on a warrant for "felon in possession of a firearm." CP 265; (6) Jason Youker did not give JoAnn Youker, his ex wife, permission to enter his residence, nor did he authorize the Sheriff's Deputies to enter and search his residence. CP 261, 265.

III. ARGUMENT

A. JoAnn Youker did not have actual authority to consent to a search of Jason Youker's property.

It is clear from the facts that JoAnn Youker did not possess actual authority to consent to the search of Mr. Youker's home. In

fact, she was not even legally allowed to be in Mr. Youker's home because her no contact order that was still in effect at the time of the search. (See Exhibits B and C Declaration of Jason Youker in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 116-231.) A third party has actual authority if he or she has been authorized by the owner to consent to a search, or if the third party has mutual use of the property. United States v. Ruiz, 428 F.3d 877 at 880 (9th Cir. 1993).

JoAnn Youker does not meet either one of the two elements required to have actual authority to consent to a search. There is no evidence that Jason Youker authorized JoAnn to consent to a search of his home. Second, JoAnn did not have mutual use and joint access of the property. Although the rule does not explicitly state, it certainly implies that in order to have mutual and joint access of the property one must have legal use and access of the property, which JoAnn Youker lacked because of the restraining order prohibiting her from the residence. She was committing a crime by entering the residence

because she was violating the restraining order.

Officers Black and White knew about JoAnn Youker's no contact order. JoAnn Youker was in police custody because of a warrant for her arrest when she gave consent to search Jason Youker's home. Notice of an individual's arrest warrant(s) is issued through a CAD report, which includes among other things any current no contact orders. Ultimately, JoAnn Youker lacked authorized authority to consent to a search of Jason Youker's house. Therefore, the officers did not only commit an illegal act by performing a warrantless search of a home without consent, but compounded the illegality by actually escorting JoAnn Youker to a place where she was not authorized to be as a result of the not contact order.

B. JoAnn Youker did not have apparent authority to consent to a search of Mr. Youker's property.

JoAnn Youker <u>lacked apparent authority to consent to a</u>
<u>search of Mr. Youker's house</u>. In the <u>United States v. Dearing</u>,
9 F.3d 1438, 1430 (9th Cir. 1993) the Court created a three-part

test to determine if a third party has <u>apparent</u> authority to consent to a search:

First, did the searching officer believe some untrue fact that was then used to assess the extent of the consent-giver's use of and access to or control over the area searched? Second, was it under the circumstances objectively reasonable to believe that the fact was true? Finally, assuming the truth of the reasonably believed but untrue fact, would the consent-giver have had actual authority?

The fourth amendment to the United States Constitution has traditionally placed a great deal of safeguards against searches of the home especially searches without a warrant.

See, Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 585-586, 100 S. Ct. 1371, 1379-1380:

Judge Leventhal first noted the settled rule that warrantless arrests in public places are valid. He immediately recognized, however, that [a] greater burden

is placed ... on officials who enter a home or dwelling without consent. Freedom from intrusion into the home or dwelling is the archetype of the privacy protection secured by the Fourth Amendment. (Citations omitted.) (Footnote omitted.)

His analysis of this question then focused on the long-settled premise that, absent exigent circumstances, a warrantless entry to search for weapons or contraband is unconstitutional even when a felony has been committed and there is probable cause to believe that incriminating evidence will be found within.

He reasoned that the constitutional protection afforded to the individual's interest in the privacy of his own home is equally applicable to a warrantless entry for the purpose of arresting a resident of the house; for it is inherent in such an entry that a search for the suspect may be required before he can be apprehended. ^[27] Judge Leventhal concluded that an entry to arrest and an entry to search for and to seize property implicate the same interest in preserving the privacy and the sanctity of the home, and justify the same level of constitutional protection.

Payton, 100 S. Ct. 1380-1381. Because of this, officers generally go through great efforts to determine the authority of an individual to consent to a search before the search is conducted. See <u>United States v. Reid</u>, 226 F. 3d 1020 (9th Cir. 2000). The officer's actions in <u>Reid</u> exemplifies such actions.

sought to verify the ability of the individual to consent to a search by confirming his residence with the apartment manager and other residents of the complex in addition to surveillance of the apartment. <u>Id.</u> at 1022. At the very least, it is common for an officer to seek some form of verification by the individual claiming to have authority to consent to a search, such as a lease, before conducting the search. <u>See United States v. Davis</u>, 332 F 3d 1163, 1166 (9th Cir. 2003).

Such verification is needed because the Ninth Circuit has held that mere access to a residence, without more, is insufficient to establish apparent authority. <u>United States v.</u>

Dearing, 9 F. 3d 1428, 1430 (9th Cir. 1993). <u>Mere access is insufficient</u>, because it does not determine if one has mutual use and joint access to the property. <u>United States v. Fultz</u>, 146 F. 3d 1102, 1106 (9th Cir. 1998).

The case at bar does not meet the second part of this three-part test for determining apparent authority, which

requires that the officer's belief to be objectively reasonable.

Ruiz, 428 F. 3d at 880. There is nothing in this case that suggest that the officer's belief that JoAnn Youker had authority to consent to a search was objectively reasonable before they conducted the search. The officers relied on JoAnn Youker's ability to access the house and her statement that she had been staying there. As numerous courts have pointed out — mere access is not enough to believe that one has authority to consent to a search.

Before conducting the search the officers didn't seek verification that JoAnn Youker in fact resided in Jason Youker's house. Instead, immediately upon entering the house, the officers, with the aid of JoAnn Youker, began to search and eventually seized the firearm and ammunition in question. It was not until after the search and seizure that the officers attempted to verify that JoAnn Youker had mutual use and joint access of Mr. Youker's home.

Such a search is not permitted. A policy that permits the warrantless search of one's home and allows the officer to verify the <u>validity of such a search afterwards</u> cannot be constitutionally upheld.

Under Article I, section 7 of the Washington State

Constitution, warrantless searches are per se unreasonable.

State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn. 2d 161, 170, 917 P.2d 833

(1999). Exceptions to the warrant requirement for a search are to be "jealously and carefully drawn." State v. Reichenbach,

153 Wn.2d 126, 131, 101 P.3d 80(2004) (quoting Hendrickson,

129 Wn.2d at 72). The burden of proof is on the State to show that a warrantless search or seizure falls within one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement. State v. Acrey, 148

Wn.2d 738, 746, 64 P.3d 594 (2003) (quoting State v Kinzy,

141 Wn.2d 373, 382, 5 P.3d 668 (2000).

In the context of a search, consent is a form of waiver.

State v. Morse, 156 Wn. 2d 1, 8, 123 P.3d 832 (2005).

Ordinarily, only the person who possesses a constitutional right may waive that right. Id.; Cf. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 678, 965 P.2d 1079 (1998) (wife's consent not effective as waiver of husband's constitutional right to be free from invasion of privacy). To be valid, a consensual search requires voluntary consent by one having authority to consent and the search must be limited to the scope of the consent. State v Rodriquez, 497 U.S. 177, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 111 L.Ed. 2d 148 (1990).

Article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution is more protective of individual privacy than the 4th

Amendment. (See e.g. State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. 2d 251, 259, 76 P.3d 217 (2003); State v. Jones, 146 Wn. 2d 328, 332, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002)). Art. 1, section 7 provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Under the Washington State Constitution, authority to consent to a search is based upon a person's independent authority to consent and the reasonable

expectation of his co-occupant about that authority. Morse, 156 Wn.2d at 8. In Morse, the Washington Supreme Court held that, "[s]tanding alone, a police officer's subjective belief made in good faith about the scope of a consenting party's authority to consent cannot be used to validate a warrantless search."

Under Article I, section 7 courts focus on the expectation of the people being searched and the scope of the consenting party's authority to consent.

Under Article I section 7 analysis: 1) the consenting party must be able to permit the search in his own right, and 2) it must be reasonable to find that the defendant has assumed the risk that a co-occupant might permit a search. State v. Mathe, 102 Wn.2d 534, 534-544, 668 P.2d 859 (1984). "In short, while under the 4th amendment the focus is on whether the police acted reasonably under the circumstances, whereas under Article I, section 7 we focus on the expectation of the people being searched and the scope of the consenting party's

authority." (Emphasis added.) Morse, 156 Wn.2d at 10.

Thus, Washington courts have found authority to consent to a search did not exist where a landlord consents to the search of a renter's room(s) when the renter retains control of the premises. (See Mathe, 102 Wn.2d at 534-544, 688 P.2d 859; See also State v. Birdsong, 66 Wn. App 354, 537-538, P.2d 533 (1992)) where guests of an apartment renter consented to search the apartment) and see Morse, supra. In Mathe, the Washington Supreme Court, in holding a landlord did not have authority to consent to a search, stated "that the person consenting to the search has [to have] common authority over the area to be searched." Mathe, 102 Wn.2d at 534-544, 688 P.2d 859.

In this case, at the time in question, JoAnn Youker was not legally in Jason Youker's home at 920-½ S. Nancy and lacked the common authority to consent to a police search of that residence. At the time of Ms. Youker's consent she was under the restrictions of an no contact order regarding Jason

Youker which prohibited JoAnn Youker from "having any contact whatsoever...." with Jason Youker, and from, "entering, knowingly coming within, or knowingly remaining on" Mr. Youker's residence,.... JoAnn Youker's contact with Jason Youker and her presence at his residence was illegal, and thus she did not possess common authority in the residence.

Where, as here, the consenter does not have <u>common</u> authority over the area to be searched, consent given is <u>not</u> effective and any subsequent search relying on that consent is illegal. <u>See Morse</u>, 156 Wn. 2d at 16, <u>Birdsong</u>, 66 Wn. App 534, 537-538, 832, P.2d 533 (1992); <u>State v. Christian</u>, 95 Wn.2d 655, 628 P.2d 806 (1981). The subjective beliefs and understandings of law enforcement officers are irrelevant to the question of authority, <u>Morse</u>, 156 Wn. 2d at 5. The existence and scope of a common authority is a legal question which must be determined by the court based on <u>the facts</u> of each case.

Morse, 156 Wn. 2d at 11.

C. Police may not search a residence based on information gathered from an informant without verifying the credibility and veracity of that informant.

It is well established that "a claim of firsthand observation will not be used to overcome a credibility deficiency." State v Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 432, 441, 668 P.2d 136 (1984); State v Mickle, 53 Wn. App. 39, 42, 756 P.2d 331 (1988). In Jackson, the Washington Supreme Court reaffirmed the existing rule in the state that the sufficiency of an informant's tip to establish probable cause is derived from Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 21 L. ed. 2d 637, 89 S.Ct. 584 (1969), and Aguilar v. Texas, 478 U.S. 108, 12 L. Ed. 723, 84 S.Ct. 1509 (1964). This rule has two requirements, which must be satisfied before an informant's tip may rise to the level of probable cause. First, the police officer must set forth some of the underlying circumstances from which the

informant drew her conclusion that criminal activity is occurring. Second, the affidavit must set forth the underlying facts from which the officer concluded the informant was credible and his information reliable. <u>Jackson</u>, at 435; <u>See also</u>, <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 85 Wn. App. 638, 659-660, 932 P.2d 669 (1997); <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 75 Wn. App. 692, 710, 879 P.2d 984 (1994).

In the case at hand, Officers Black and White fail to provide any information from which the credibility and veracity of the information received from JoAnn Youker can be ascertained. On the contrary, Officers Black and White knew of both an existing warrant for JoAnn Youker's arrest and that Jason Youker had an enforceable no contact order against JoAnn Youker, and yet neither deputy sought any information that would support the credibility and veracity of JoAnn Youker's information.

Common sense dictates that informants may not be just

"civic-minded" when providing information. See generally,

State v. Duncan, 81 Wn. App. 70, 78, 918 P.2d 1090 (1996);

State v. Rodriguez, 53 Wn. App. 571, 576-577, 769 P.2d 309 (1989). Often, an informant's tip may well be motivated by a sense of revenge or self-interest, or it may simply create an inference that the informant himself is involved in criminal activity and nothing more. Rodriguez, 53 Wn. App. at 576.

Here it is evident that JoAnn Youker had ample cause for an ulterior motive in providing police with the information. She was facing arrest for the warrant sworn out on her and she had been for a short time living with Jason Youker in violation of her no contact order. She was his <u>ex-wife</u>, the couple having recently <u>divorced</u>. Furthermore, the police did not investigate the reliability of JoAnn Youker's information despite their knowledge of her potential ulterior motives in providing incriminating information on Mr. Youker, which does not fulfill the second prong of the <u>Aguliar-Spinelli</u> test.

D. The tort of invasion of privacy is recognized in Washington State.

There are four types of invasion of privacy: intrusion, disclosure, false light, and appropriation. Mark v. Seattle

<u>Times</u>, 96 Wn.2d 473, 497, 635 P.2d 1081 (1981).

One who intentionally intrudes, physically or otherwise, upon the solitude or seclusion of another or his private affairs or concerns, is subject to liability to the other for the invasion of privacy, if the intrusion would be highly offensive to a reasonable person. Mark, 96 Wn. 2d at 497.

Here the intrusion was at the highest level of offensive:

(1) The intrusion was by his ex-wife, a person he had a restraining order against and a person who was stalking him; and (2) the intrusion was by Douglas County Sheriff's Deputies. The jury would probably find that a warrantless search by these persons would be highly offensive to a

reasonable person and and that Jason Youker suffered special damages because of the invasion. Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wn. 2d 195, 205, n. 4, 961 P. 2d 333 (1998).

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