I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a dispute between Jason Youker, the 

appellant, and JoAnn Youker, his ex-wife. Mr. Youker is a 

convicted felon and he is not allowed to possess guns. JoAnn 

Youker accused Mr. Youker of keeping a rifle under the bed in the 

family home that they shared together with her children. This 

accusation led to both state and federal criminal charges, all of 

which were eventually dismissed. In this lawsuit, Mr. Youker is 

attempting to blame the Douglas County defendants for his legal 

troubles. He has the wrong target. Instead, his legal efforts should 

be directed against his ex-wife. 

This case has already been to the Court of Appeals. On 

April 19, 2011, this Court affirmed the trial court and concluded that 

Youker's claims for malicious prosecution, false arrest, and false 

imprisonment were properly dismissed as a matter of law. The 

claim for invasion of privacy was remanded to the trial court for 

additional briefing and re-argument. Youker v. Doug/as Co., 162 

Wn.App. 448, 258 P.3d 60 (2011). The trial court subsequently 

dismissed the claim of invasion of privacy after briefing and re-

argument on the motion of the Douglas County defendants. 
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II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

Did the trial court properly grant the Defendants' Motion for 

Summary Judgment and dismiss the invasion of privacy claim as a 

matter of law? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Summary of the facts. 

The facts of this case were best summarized by the previous 

decision of this Court as follows: 

On April 20, 2007, Jason Youker's ex-wife, JoAnn Youker, 

visited the Douglas County Sheriff's Office and notified the dispatch 

office that she wished to provide information on a crime committed 

by her ex-husband. CP 163. The dispatch office relayed notice of 

Ms. Youker's visit to Deputy Lisa White, who was next on rotation 

and would be assigned the matter but who was out on patrol, and 

Deputy William Black, who was in the deputies' room. CP 132, 

163. The dispatch office simultaneously ran a check on Ms. 

Youker, and transmitted information to both deputies that Ms. 

Youker was subject to a no-contact order prohibiting her from 

having contact with her ex-husband and was subject to an 

outstanding arrest warrant out of East Wenatchee for [f]ail to 

appear or fail to comply. CP 52. Deputy White read the 
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information on the computer screen in her patrol car and returned 

to the sheriff's office to meet with Ms. Youker. CP 165 

Deputy Black reviewed the information on the arrest warrant 

and no-contact order and met with Ms. Youker briefly while awaiting 

Deputy Wh ite's retu rn from patrol. C P 131. He was told by Ms. 

Youker that her ex-husband was a convicted felon and was in 

possession of a rifle, which she knew was forbidden. CP 131. On 

Deputy White's arrival, Ms. Youker repeated the allegation to her, 

telling the deputy that she had asked her husband to get rid of the 

rifle several times because there were children in the house, but he 

refused. CP 166. Ms. Youker offered to show the officers where 

the rifle was hidden in the residence she claimed to share with Mr. 

Youker on Nancy Street in East Wenatchee. CP 52. She told them 

that she and Mr. Youker had lived together at the Nancy Street 

residence for the prior five months. CP 166. As these 

conversations were taking place, the dispatch office generated a 

report of its contact from Ms. Youker that indicated a different, 

Tonasket address for Ms. Youker. CP 148. The report could have 

been accessed by the deputies, but there is no evidence that they 

ever did access or become aware of the reported Tonasket address 

prior to traveling to Mr. Youker's home with Ms. Youker. CP 148. 
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After confirming that Mr. Youker was a convicted felon, the 

deputies drove Ms. Youker to the residence. CP 52. The deputies 

had been told by Ms. Youker that Mr. Youker had gone to Spokane 

for the day and would not be present at the home, and he was not. 

CP 52. Deputy White asked Ms. Youker if she had a key to the 

home and Ms. Youker said she did not, but that the home was 

unlocked. CP 168-169. 

Relying on Ms. Youker's consent to search the home, the 

deputies entered and were directed by Ms. Youker to a 30-30 rifle 

and ammunition located under a bed. CP 52, 169. While inside the 

residence, Deputy White was shown mail addressed to Mr. Youker 

and Ms. Youker as well as Ms. Youker's clothing in a closet. Ms. 

Youker signed a consent to search form. CP 52, 170. 

Upon returning to the sheriffs office, Deputy White learned 

that the nature of Ms. Youker's outstanding arrest warrant was a 

violation of a domestic violence protective order in favor of Mr. 

Youker. Deputy White arrested Ms. Youker on the warrant. CP 53, 

201. 

That afternoon, Deputy White also completed a notice of 

arrest and probable cause statement for the arrest of Jason Youker 

and completed a handwritten incident report, which identified an 
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address other than the Nancy Street address as a mailing address 

for Ms. Youker. CP 51, 72. The next day, Deputy White obtained 

signed statements from Ms. Youker's two minor children, one being 

her son with Mr. Youker, corroborating Mr. Youker's ownership of 

the rifle. CP 62-64. 

Deputy White also pulled over and arrested Mr. Youker the 

next day. CP 75. When the deputy advised him that he was under 

arrest for being a felon in possession of a firearm, Mr. Youker 

asked her what gun and she responded it was the rifle under his 

bed. CP 75. According to Deputy White's report, Mr. Youker stated 

that the rifle belonged to Ms. Youker, who brought it with her when 

she moved in with her son. CP 75. The deputy's report also 

indicates that Mr. Youker told her, when asked, that he and his ex-

wife had lived together at the residence for about four months. CP 

75. Enroute to the jail, Mr. Youker accused Ms. Youker of setting 

him up and placing the gun under the bed; he said the gun had 

been in storage and she must have gotten it out of storage while he 

was in Spokane. CP 75. 

On April 23, 2007, Mr. Youker made his initial appearance in 

court. The court determined that probable cause for the arrest 

existed based upon the evidence before it, which included Deputy 
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White's original notice of arrest and probable cause statement. CP 

87-89. The information provided in the probable cause statement 

as to Ms. Youker's addresses and the no-contact order was limited 

to the following: 

CP 52. 

I confirmed that Jason Youker was a 
convicted felon. JoAnn advised me that 
they have lived together at this 
residence for approximately 5 months. 
JoAnn was not aware that the no 
contact order was still in [e]ffect. 

Based upon the materials provided to the Douglas County 

prosecutor's office by the sheriff's office the prosecutor decided to 

file charges against Mr. Youker, and on April 25, 2007, an 

information was filed with the superior court charging Mr. Youker 

with unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, a felony. 

CP 85. The materials provided to the prosecutor's office by Deputy 

White included all of the witness statements, the arrest warrant for 

Ms. Youker, and the incident and dispatch-generated reports 

identifying other addresses for Ms. Youker. CP 85. 

The charges against Mr. Youker were dismissed by Douglas 

County on August 6 because the United States Attorney's Office 

had elected to pursue a federal charge against Mr. Youker based 

upon the same incident. CP 86. 
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Mr. Youker moved in the federal proceeding to suppress 

evidence of the rifle and ammunition. CP 107. The district court 

heard evidence on October 26, 2007, and scheduled argument on 

the suppression motion for a later date. CP 124-221. Prior to the 

date for argument, the assistant United States attorney assigned to 

the case learned of witnesses whose testimony would contradict 

the government's key witness and determined that, if believed, their 

testimony could raise a reasonable doubt as to Mr. Youker's guilt. 

CP 108-109. The government filed a motion to dismiss the 

indictment without prejudice on February 21, 2008. CP 109. 

Mr. Youker commenced this action against Douglas County 

and Deputies Black and White on April 17, 2009, in Chelan County 

Superior Court. CP 35. The court granted a motion to transfer the 

case to Douglas County over Mr. Youker's objection. CP 3-4. 

Following the transfer to Douglas County, the defendants 

moved for summary judgment. CP 104. The trial court granted the 

motion. CP 251. 

Mr. Youker filed a motion for reconsideration and submitted 

further declarations from himself and Ms. Youker, attesting that he 

had allowed her to stay with him for only several weeks in 

December 2006, a time when she and his son were otherwise 
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homeless; that he insisted that she leave at the end of December at 

which point she moved to her parents' home in Tonasket; that in 

late March 2007 she learned that Mr. Youker was in a new 

relationship and began following him, a violation of the no-contact 

order that he reported; that on the day the home was searched, she 

had taken her rifle and ammunition to Mr. Youker's home, which 

she knew would be unlocked because his employees needed 

access to inventory at his home; and that she placed the rifle and 

ammunition under his bed, and then went to the Douglas County 

sheriff to file the criminal complaint. CP 260-266. 

Youker, 162 Wn.App. at 453-457 (internal citations omitted). 

B. Procedural History. 

The Court of Appeals has already concluded that Mr. Youker's 

claims for malicious prosecution, false arrest, and false 

imprisonment were properly dismissed as a matter of law. 

Specifically, this Court has already decided that: (1) probable 

cause to arrest was established as a matter of law; (2) Deputy 

White made a full and fair disclosure, in good faith, of what was 

learned during the investigation; (3) Mr. Youker failed to present 

evidence demonstrating any genuine issue of fact regarding malice; 

and (4) the action of the prosecutor was a superseding and 
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intervening cause and so the search was not the legal cause of 

injury or damages occurring after the fully informed decision to 

prosecute. 

After establishing these legal conclusions as the law of the 

case, this Court then remanded to the trial court the claim of 

invasion of privacy for additional briefing and re-argument. Youker, 

162 Wa. APP. at 468. On May 7,2012, the trial court granted the 

Douglas County defendants' second motion for summary judgment 

and again dismissed the invasion of privacy claim as a matter of 

law. CP 381-384. A subsequent motion for reconsideration was 

also denied. CP 402. 

w. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The trial court properly granted the Defendants' 
motion for summary judgment and dismissed the 
invasion of privacy claim as a matter of law. 

The trial court properly granted the Defendants' motion for 

summary judgment and dismissed the invasion of privacy claim as 

a matter of law because Mr. Youker failed to present any evidence 

to support his claim for damages, and because JoAnn Youker gave 

consent to search the property. 
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i. The evidence presented did not support a claim 
for invasion of privacy. 

Mr. Youker continues to argue that he is entitled to damages 

because his constitutional right to privacy was violated when the 

Defendant deputies entered his home without a search warrant. 

However, Washington courts have consistently rejected invitations 

to establish a cause of action for damages based upon violations of 

the state constitution. Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 

P.2d 333 (1998); Blinka v. WSBA, 109 Wn.App. 575, 591, 36 P.3d 

1094 (2001); Sparrel/ v. Block, 40 Wn.App. 854, 860-61, 701 P.2d 

529 (1985). 

Additionally, while the Legislature has provided that the state 

"shall be liable for damages arising out of its tortious conduct to the 

same extent as if it were a private person or corporation" under 

RCW 4.92.090, the Legislature rejected a proposed statute that 

would have authorized the payment of damages to persons who 

are injured by a violation of the state Constitution. See Senate Bill 

5154 (2001). 

As such, Youker's claim for invasion of privacy by intrusion 

must be analyzed under general tort standards. Washington 

recognizes a tort common law cause of action for invasion of 

privacy. Reid, 136 Wn.2d at 206. There are two types of invasion 
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of privacy claims: (1) false light, and (2) physical intrusion. Fisher 

v. State ex rei. Dept. of Health, 125 Wn.App. 869, 878-79,106 P.3d 

836 (2005), rev. den'd, 155 Wn.2d 1013 (2005). This case involves 

a claim for the second type, a physical intrusion, but it does not 

involve a claim of "false light" invasion of privacy. 

A prima facie claim for the tort of invasion of privacy by 

physical intrusion consists of the following elements: a deliberate 

intrusion, physical or otherwise, into a person's solitude, seclusion, 

or private affairs. Fisher, 125 Wn.App. at 879. The intruder must 

have acted deliberately to achieve the result, with the certain belief 

that the result would happen. Id. Intent is thus an essential 

element. Id. 

In Fisher, a patient sued the Department of Health and the 

Office of the Attorney General under various common law tort 

theories, including invasion of privacy by publication and intrusion, 

and for alleged statutory violations after her medical records were 

disseminated by those state agencies. Id. at 872-73. The claims 

were dismissed by the trial court on summary judgment and that 

decision was affirmed on appeal because the plaintiff could not 

establish the intent element required for the tort of invasion of 

privacy by intrusion because "[n]o finder of fact could find that the 
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attorney general's office deliberately embarked on a course of 

conduct guaranteed to result in an unlawful disclosure with the 

intent of causing distress or embarrassment to any identifiable 

person." Id. at 879. The Fisher court affirmed the trial court's 

dismissal of the cause of action for invasion of privacy by intrusion. 

Id. 

Like in Fisher, Mr. Youker's claim fails as a matter of law 

because there is no evidence that the Deputies "deliberately 

embarked on a course of conduct guaranteed to result" in an 

unlawful intrusion with the intent of causing distress or 

embarrassment to Mr. Youker. Id. at 879. 

In addition, the trial court's order properly dismissed the 

invasion of privacy claim because all damages claimed by Mr. 

Youker were barred by the probable cause finding and the 

prosecutor's fully informed decision to prosecute. The only 

damages potentially recoverable by Mr. Youker in such a case are 

damages directly related to the invasion of privacy (such as 

damages for physical injury, property damage, injury to reputation, 

etc.), which are not barred by the prosecutor's fully informed 

decision to prosecute, but were not claimed or pled by Mr. Youker. 

Mr. Youker suffered no physical injury during the search 
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because he was not present when the deputies conducted their 

search. Youker, 162 Wn.App. at 454. Mr. Youker sustained no 

property damage during the search because JoAnn Youker opened 

the door for the deputies. Id. There is no evidence that personal 

property was damaged in the course of the deputies' search. 

Finally, there is no evidence that Mr. Youker suffered damage to his 

reputation during the course of the search because JoAnn Youker 

was the only individual present. All of Mr. Youker's claimed 

damages, to the extent any were actually sustained, were suffered 

during and after the time of his arrest. 

Mr. Youker argues that he suffered emotional distress 

damages as a result of the physical intrusion into his residence and 

argues that expert testimony is unnecessary to establish emotional 

and mental distress damages. This argument misses the point. 

The trial court's order granting summary judgment on the invasion 

of privacy claim was not based on any arguments that there was no 

evidence in the record of emotional distress damages. Rather, the 

trial court's order properly dismissed the invasion of privacy claim 

because all damages claimed by Mr. Youker were barred by the 

probable cause finding and the prosecutor's fully informed decision 

to prosecute. The only damages potentially recoverable by Mr. 
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Youker in such a case are damages directly related to the invasion 

of privacy (such as damages for physical injury, property damage, 

injury to reputation, etc.), and which are not barred by the 

prosecutor's fully informed decision to prosecute 

As the record contains no evidence or claims of any 

damages directly related to the search (e.g. damages for physical 

injury, property damage, or injury to reputation during the course of 

the search), Mr. Youker claims no recoverable damages. The 

entirety of the damages claimed by Mr. Youker relate to the 

discovery of the incriminating evidence, arrest, and consequent 

criminal prosecution, which the trial court and the Court of Appeals 

previously found are barred based upon the prosecutor's informed 

decision to prosecute. 

The trial court properly dismissed the invasion of privacy 

claim because the evidence presented did not support the claim.

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